## 1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 RICHARD KILGORE, 3 Appellant/Cross-Respondent, Case No.: 73977 Electronically Filed 4 Aug 16 2018 11:06 a.m. VS. Elizabeth A. Brown 5 Clerk of Supreme Court ELENI KILGORE, 6 Respondent/Cross-Appellant. 7 8 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 9 10 11 Betsy Allen, Esq. Fred Page, Esq. 12 Attorney for Appellant Attorney for Respondent 13 P.O. Box 46991 6145 Spring Mountain Rd, Suite 201 Las Vegas, Nevada 89114 Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28

# **

#### Jurisdictional Statement

The district court entered the dispositive *Findings Of Fact, Conclusions Of Law And Orders From Evidentiary Hearing And Status Check Hearing* on August 2, 2017. The order is appealable. NRAP 3A(b)(8). Appellant is aggrieved by the order. NRAP 3A(a). See also *Bates v. Nevada Sav. & Loan Association*, 85 Nev. 441, 456 P. 2d 450 (1969) ("an aggrieved party is one whose personal right is injuriously affected by the adjudication[.]") Original jurisdiction is established in the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada. *Notice of Appeal* was timely filed on September 6, 2017.

#### **Statement of the Issues**

1. Whether the district court erred in requiring Appellant to begin making payments on Respondent's community property share of his divided retirement assets before he has developed the account to full maturity, thereby imposing a de facto early retirement penalty; and,

- 2. Whether the district court erred in requiring Appellant to begin making payments on Respondent's community property share of his divided retirement assets without allowing for an offset of his community property share of Respondent's divided retirement assets; and,
- 3. Whether the district court erred in ordering a division of Appellant's vacation/sick time.

#### **Statement of the Case**

Both Appellant and Respondent are members of the Public Employee's Retirement System ('PERS'); Appellant by virtue of his employment in law enforcement with Las Vegas Municipal Court Marshal service and Respondent by virtue of her employment as a teacher with the Clark County School District. Both parties are both vested in PERS, though neither is fully matured at this time. JA-000394:2-10.

Appellant can retire but only with early retirement "penalty" resulting in a reduction in benefits, as full maturity on the account has not been achieved; Respondent can retire, but an early direct retirement penalty would apply, as opposed to the *de facto* penalty imposed by forcing Appellant's retirement prior to the maximized years of service. Existing law provides one party must pay the other the community property share of divided retirement assets once the party is eligible to retire; but, the law is unclear whether a pension-holder who has not achieved full maturity of a retirement account can continue to work.

Appellant had vacation/sick pay accrual that Parties litigated but did not adjudicate. The district court erred in considering the assets omitted and ordering them divided, over **four years** after the original decreed divided all the martial assets.

#### **Statement of the Facts**

Parties married December 15, 1992. Parties divorced March 13, 2013. The decree of divorce divided all marital assets and debts duly considered. Parties have a community property interest in each other's PERS benefits. Respondent made a formal written demand for payment on her portion of Appellant's benefits in March of 2015. Appellant resisted, insisting on continuing his employment until his benefits fully matured and objecting as he was still under a court order to pay child support based upon his income as a Marshal. Additionally, Appellant also contends that Respondent should be ordered to pay her portion of her community property interest in Appellant's interest in her PERS. Respondent further demanded a division of Appellant's deferred compensation and vacation/sick pay, purporting that the assets were omitted. Appellant refused, arguing that the assets were not omitted.

The district court opened limited, post-judgment discovery. JA-000315:10-12. After several hearings, the district court ordered Appellant to make payments on Respondent's community property interest of his PERS benefits, but refused to order Respondent to make same payments to Appellant. JA-001542:3-8. The

district court further ordered that the deferred compensation and vacation/sick pay were omitted assets, and that Respondent was entitled to a division of same.

# **Summary of the Argument**

Parties' rights collide where Appellant has yet to achieve full maturity on his PERS and is still obligated to pay child support based on his full income, in addition to the retirement income. Respondent demands receipt of her community property share immediately, thus forcing an early retirement (prior to full maturity of benefits) or live with less than half of his income. JA-001524:17-24. JA-001525:8-12. Appellant should not be compelled to make payments on a community property share of a divided retirement asset that has not fully matured. This results in a *de facto* penalty. JA-000394:2-10. Even if it does, Appellant would then be entitled to an offset on the payments due to the fact that he has an interest in his community property share of Respondent's divided retirement assets.

Furthermore, Respondent is not entitled to sick leave accrued by Appellant where she waited until years after entry of the decree and it was property litigated.

## Argument

# Standard of Review

"Question[s] of law [are] subject to de novo review." *Ogawa v Ogawa*, 125 Nev. 660, \_\_\_\_, 221 P 3.d, 699, 704 (2009). "The district court's factual findings, however, are given deference and will be upheld if not clearly erroneous and if supported by substantial evidence." *Id*.

An abuse of discretion is "[a] clear ignoring by the court of [applicable legal principles], without apparent justification." *Hotel Last Frontier v. Frontier Prop.*, *Inc.*, 79 Nev. 150, 154, 380 P. 2d 293, 294 (1963).

Whether the district court erred in requiring Appellant to begin making payments on Respondent's community property share of his divided retirement assets before he has developed the account to full maturity

Appellant has, from the onset of this case, declined to retire, and rightfully so. JA-000279:3-4. Appellant has expressed an interest in continuing to work until he has achieved full maturity in PERS. This is Appellant's life time career. He is entitled to finish his career wherein his benefits are full maximized and not when Respondent thinks he should retire. JA-000880:10-JA-000881:20. Parties are obligated to distribute community property shares of their respective divided retirement assets per the "time rule". JA-000003:25-27. Gemma v. Gemma, 105 Nev. 458, \_\_\_\_, 778 P. 2d 429, 431 (1989) (defining the "time rule"). Respondent made a formal written demand to begin receiving her community property share of Appellant's divided retirement assets. *Henson v. Henson*, 130 Nev. \_\_\_\_, 334 P. 3d 933, 934 (2014) ("the nonemployee spouse must first file a motion in the district court requesting immediate receipt of those benefits"). JA-001207:5-21 (recognizing that the time of payout occurred on formal written request.) See also JA-001208:12-15. See also JA-001540:20-23.

Not only is the Appellant punished by the case law previously set forth by this Court, public policy dictates that Appellant be allowed to maximize his

benefits in PERS. When law enforcement and fire (the two main groups affected by the retirement policy set forth by this court) are forced into retirement prior to the maximization of benefits, the state, county and municipalities are forced to hire new recruits, who will require training and also benefits. The forced retirement this Court propagates in prior cases will cost the State hundreds of thousands of dollars and existing experience in two public safety sectors of the community that demand diligence and experience.

The difference between the amount PERS would pay is based on a "base pay" computation, which will continue to mature if Appellant is able to continue working. JA-000880:10-JA-000881:20. Respondent has argued that existing law does not allow Appellant to choose when to retire, which is contrary to public policy and any rational thought process. *Gemma*, 778 P. 2d at 432. The *Gemma* Court based this on the "control" it would vest with the pension-holder. *Id*. ("We do not believe that [Appellant] should have such control over when [Respondent] will begin to receive her community interest in retirement benefits.")

Thus, the *Gemma* Court concluded that payment on any community property share of PERS would occur when the pension-holder was "eligible" to retire but utterly failing to define the term eligibility. *Id.* at 430. The eligibility threshold is not clearly defined. Appellant's decision to continue working well into his eligibility is not an arbitrary or capricious exercise of "control", but rather, for the purpose of maximizing maturity on the PERS account. JA-000880:10-JA-

000881:20. Appellant has accrued 27 years of work-credit. If forced to retire now, 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 10 11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

he will receive \$5100.00. If allowed to accrue the full 30 years of work-credit, he will receive \$5400.00. This would be beneficial to both Appellant and Respondent, as it would result in a larger payout amount. This is consistent with the underlying principle that requires computation of the amount of the community asset to be divided to be based on its development over the career, not merely over the marriage. Sertic v. Sertic, 111 Nev. 1192, 901 P. 2d 148, 151 (1995) ("the salary base should be determined during the pension holding spouse's *career* and not during the marriage.") JA-000474:12-13.

Compelling payment on Respondent's community property share of Appellant's retirement assets also allows Respondent to exploit both immediate payment and gradual enhancement of the PERS account payouts Appellant achieves as he continues to work towards full maturity, thus giving Respondent a double reward of instant gratification and increase in benefits, yet penalizing Appellant. This is effectively an early-retirement penalty, and could not possibly have been the intention of the Gemma Court. This would also have a disparate impact on police and fire, as these are the groups most likely to be eligible for early retirement; a vast majority of which can be forced into early retirement by an exspouse and suffer a comparative reduction in benefits. Likewise, the public policy impact cannot be ignored, as police and fire would be effectively coerced out of

3

4 5

7

6

8

10

11

12 13

14

15 16

17

18

19

20 21

22

2324

25

2627

28

public service, resulting in increased turnover, and a reduction in services as well as increased training costs.

Ultimately, this case presents a scenario where a serious departure from stare decisis must be considered. "Legal precedents of this Court should be respected until they are shown to be unsound in principle[.]" ASAP Storage, Inc. v. City of Sparks, 123 Nev. 639, \_\_\_\_, 173 P. 3d 734, 743 (2007). See also Rupert v. Stienne, 90 Nev. 397, \_\_\_\_, 528 P. 2d 1013, 1015 (1974) ("The doctrine of stare") decisis must not be so narrowly pursued that the body of the common law is forever encased in a straight jacket.") See also Sargeant v. Sargeant, 88 Nev. 223, \_\_\_\_, 495 P. 2d 618, 623 (1972) ("Blind adherence to the requirements of stare" decisis is not consonant with justice.") This Court's articulation of the "time rule" satisfies the purpose of NRS 125.155 but is in no way constrained by it. This Court's concern over the "control" a pension-holder would have in deciding to continue working where there would be no benefit to the non-employee spouse is sound. But nowhere in our existing case law is it considered that a pension-holder may continue to work to increase the maturity of a retirement account; an action which would be to the benefit of both pension-holder and non-employee spouse. It is unlikely that this Court meant to punish a faction of the working public, namely law enforcement and fire, by allowing an ex-spouse to either force a retirement before maximized PERS payments or undercutting a salary to the point of poverty. Which is exactly what the District Court was forced to do in this case.

Furthermore, this Court has not considered a scenario where the nonemployee spouse is demanding payment on a retirement account to spite the
pension-holder. In the instant case, Respondent would gain little to no money on
receiving her payment of her community property share of Appellant's retirement
assets; this is because Parties income would change such that the inverse effect on
Respondent's child support would negate a substantial portion of what she would
receive by obtaining payment of her community property share of Appellant's
retirement assets.

By focusing intently on the "control" a pension-holder might exercise in deciding when to retire, this Court has overlooked the "control" a non-employee spouse might exercise in demanding payment. A spiteful exercise of discretion can occur from either ex-spouse. Compare *Folks v. Folks*, 77 Nev. 45, 47, 359 P. 2d 92, 93 (1961) ("[approving] the district court's exercise of discretion not to enter judgment where the movant would not have been benefitted by an uncollectible judgment, but the obligor would have been greatly prejudiced in the eyes of his superiors in the military.") This Court should take the opportunity to elaborate that a pension holder who is eligible to retire can continue to work if doing so would further enhance the community asset share of a retirement account to the benefit of both himself and his or her nonemployee spouse, or at the very least expand the district court's discretion in such circumstances.

Whether the district court abused its discretion in requiring Appellant to begin making payments on Respondent's community property share of his divided retirement assets without allowing for an offset of his community property share of Respondent's divided retirement assets

What complicates this matter is the fact that often times two (2) working spouses will hold retirement accounts, and the older spouse who will achieve retirement eligibility sometimes several years before the younger spouse. When Respondent demanded her community portion, Appellant countered, demanding same. JA-000938:8-22. See also JA-001147:12- JA-001148:6, JA-001163:18-22, JA-001164:2-5. Even if Appellant is required to begin making payments on Respondent's community property share of his retirement asset, the district court abused its discretion in refusing to allow an offset with respect to his community property share of Respondent's retirement asset. This outcome effectively amounts to an unequal division of community property because one spouse will be receiving payments on retirement assets while the other spouse receives nothing or substantially less. Compare NRS 125.150(1)(b) (forbidding unequal distribution of a community property asset absent a "compelling reason"). See also Lofgren v. Lofgren, 112 Nev. 1282, \_\_\_\_, 926 P. 2d 296, 297 (1996).

In cases where one party is several years older than the other, it is conceivable that the younger spouse will receive payments and the older spouse dies before receiving one cent. This Court should expand existing case law to provide that if one spouse demands payment on a community property share of a

retirement asset consistent with the "time rule", the other spouse may simultaneously demand offsets on those payments if he or she also holds a community property share of a retirement asset held by the demanding spouse that is subject to the "time rule" as well.

The district court's existing order threatens to require Appellant to make

payments that constitute in excess of 90% of his income. RA-001316:2-24. Sustaining this outcome would only force Appellant into an untenable situation where he would be facing contempt of court motions as he would only have a small portion of his disposable income available to purchase his daily essentials. This Court once considered a similar scenario in *Fernandez v. Fernandez*, 126 Nev. 28, 222, \_\_\_\_ P. 3d 1031, 1032 (2010):

The trial court held that it was "not bound" by NRS 125B.145 because the parties "previously agreed in a stipulation and order modifying the Decree of Divorce that neither party [would] seek modification of child support." In the trial court's view, this made the child support order nonmodifiable, so long as the father had "sufficient means (assets and/or income) to meet the agreed upon child support obligations."
[...]

The father's motion presented facts that, if true, qualified for relief. He did not need to wait until he was missing court-ordered child support payments or in financial peril before being heard under NRS 125B.145 and its related statutes, NRS 125B.070 and NRS 125B.080.

"Legal precedents of this Court should be respected until they are shown to be unsound in principle[.]" *ASAP Storage, Inc. v. City of Sparks, Id.* This Court should expand Nevada case law in a manner that allows the district court the

discretion to require pension-holders to offset each other's community property interests where one pension-holder becomes eligible and is compelled to begin making payments to the other.

Furthermore, the District Court, pursuant to Nevada Supreme Court precedent, was forced to order payment of retirement, child support and a judgment for retirement payments not made. The effect of the order for child support (statutory) and retirement (case law) effectively caused Appellant to be deprived of the ability to live. The District Court, after carefully evaluating living expenses of both parties, stayed the retirement payments but reduced the bulk to judgment thus punishing Appellant YET AGAIN and thwarting any possibility of purchasing a home and/or investing in things which can further stabilize his life, post-divorce.

# Whether the district court erred in ordering a division of Appellant's vacation/sick time.

Initially, *res judicata* principles, namely claim preclusion<sup>1</sup>, triggered to preclude a spouse from bringing an asset before the court to be divided where it could have been raised prior to the divorce. *University of Nevada v. Tarkanian*, 110 Nev. 581, \_\_\_\_, 879 P. 2d 1180, 1191 (1994) ("[T]here are two different species of res judicata []: issue preclusion and claim preclusion.") See also *Tomlinson v Tomlinson*, 102 Nev. 652, \_\_\_\_, 729 P. 2d 1363, 1364 (1986)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This is also known as "merger and bar".

("[B]ecause [Appellant] failed to raise this issue in 1971, she is precluded by the doctrine of *res judicata* from subsequently raising it in 1986.") This court later elaborated that "[t]he right to bring an independent action for equitable relief is not necessarily barred by *res judicata*." *Amie v. Amie*, 106 Nev. 541, \_\_\_\_, 796 P. 2d 233, 234 (1990). This is the case even where an ex-spouse "did not timely pursue a motion for relief from a divorce decree" under NRCP 60(b), but only where "exceptional circumstances [justify] equitable relief." *Doan v. Wilkerson*, \_\_\_\_ Nev. \_\_\_, 327 P. 3d 498, 499 (2014). JA-000495:5-10.

Respondent asserted that Parties failed to consider Appellant's sick/vacation leave and therefore, because it was also omitted from the decree, it could now be brought before the district court and divided as an omitted asset. JA-000319:15-21. Appellant disagreed. JA-000794:8-24 and JA-000796:5-11. See also JA-001145:5-14. At various times during proceedings, Respondent and the district court focused on whether or not Appellant "discussed" the sick/vacation leave. The district court used Respondent's testimony on cross-examination as a basis with which to find that the assets were not litigated or adjudicated, and concluded that Appellant owed a one-half share of the assets to Respondent. But this not the law. This Court recognized that an asset could be deemed considered and litigated by virtue of the information having been available and submitted. *Doan*, 327 P. 3d at 502. "[Respondent] attached statements of earnings and leave from the FAA, which indicated that he received earnings for retirement.") See also JA-000531:16-26 and

JA-000531:16-27:6-11. Just as occurred in *Doan*, Appellant attached statements of earnings, which contained detailed information on both the deferred compensation and sick/vacation leave. Thus, the district court erred in considering the deferred compensation and sick/vacation leave as omitted assets.

Even if the sick/vacation leave are deemed not litigated or adjudicated, they should not be consider community property. RA-000593:8-10. They amount to prospective wages that are paid when an employee, at some day in the future, is sick, goes on vacation, or takes a pay credit. Because they are earned after the decree of divorce has been entered, they are his sole property.

## Conclusion

THEREFORE, Appellant hereby requests that:

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