Case No. 73977

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

RICHARD KILGORE
Appellant

Electronically Filed Oct 01 2018 08:30 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

ELENI KILGORE Respondent

AND

ELENI KILGORE Cross-Appellant

٧.

RICHARD KILGORE Cross-Respondent

Appeal and Cross-Appeal

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Family Division The Honorable Cheryl B. Moss, District Judge District Court Case No. D-12-459171-D

RESPONDENT ANSWERING BRIEF CROSS-APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Fred Page, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 6080 5940 South Rainbow Blvd. Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 T: (702) 469-3278

F: (702) 628-9884

Attorney for Respondent/Cross-Appellant

I. NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

IV.	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
V.	ROUTING STATEMENT
VI.	STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL AND CROSS-APPEAL 2
VII.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
VIII.	STATEMENT OF FACTS
IX.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
X.	STANDARD OF REVIEW
XI.	LEGAL ARGUMENT
	A. The District Court Did Not Err in Requiring Appellant/Cross-Respondent to Begin Making Payments on Respondent/Cross-Appellant's Community Property Share of His Retirement Account Assets Before He Has Developed the Account to Full Maturity
	B. Whether the District Court Erred in Required Appellant to Being Making Payments on Respondent's Community Property Share of His Divided Retirement Assets Without Allowing For An Offset of His Community Property Share of Respondent's Divided Retirement Assets
	C. Whether the District Court Erred in Ordering a Division of Appellant's Vacation/Sick Time

D. Whether the District Court Erred in Refusing to Compel Richard to Commence Payment of Eleni's Community Property Share of the Defined Contribution Plan in Richard's Name Even Though Richard	of the
Reached His First Eligibility For Retirement	
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 49-50)
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY ELECTRONIC FILING	

III. TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Amie v. Amie 106 Nev. 541, 796 P.2d 233 (1990)
Arnold v. Arnold 77 P.3d 285 (N.M. Ct. App. 2003)
Doan v. Wilkerson 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 48, 327 P.3d 498 (June 26, 2014)
Franklin v. Bartsas Realty, Inc. 95 Nev. 559, 598, P.2d 1147 (1979)
Fondi v. Fondi 106 Nev. 856, 802 P.2d 1264 (1990)
Gemma v. Gemma 105 Nev. 458, 778 p.2d 429, 431 (1989) 12, 27, 28, 30, 31, 35, 46, 48
Grund v. Grund 151 Misc. 2d 852, 573 N.Y.S. 2d 840 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1991)
Goodman v. Goodman 68 Nev. 484, 236 P.2d 305 (1951)
Henson v. Henson 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 79 (Oct. 2, 2014)
<i>In re Cardona and Castro</i> 316 P.3d 626 (Colo. 2014)
In re Marriage of Fithian 517 P.2d 449 (Cal. 1974)
In re Georgakilas.

956 A.2d 320, 321 (N.H. 2008)
<i>In re Marriage of Gilmore</i> 29 Cal.3d 418 (1981)
<i>In re Marriage of Luciano</i> 164 Cal. Rptr. 93, 95 (Ct. App. 1980)
<i>In re Marriage of Moore</i> 226 Cal. Ct. App. 4th 92 (Cal. 2014)
In the Matter of the Marriage of Susan M. Hurd 848 P.2d 185 (Wash App. 1993)40
Lesko v. Lesko 457 N.W. 2d 695 (Mich. App. 1993)
MEA/AFSCME Local 519 v. City of Sioux Falls 423 N.W.2d 164 (S.D. 1988) 41
Nev. Classified Sch. Emps. Ass 'n v. Quaglia 124 Nev. 60, 63, 177 P.3d 509, 511 (2008)
NOLM, LLC v. County of Clark 120 Nev. 736, 100 P.3d 658 (2004)
<i>Ormachea v. Ormachea</i> 67 Nev. 274, 291-92, 217 P.2d 355, 364-65 (1950)
Real Estate Division v. Jones, 98 Nev. 260, 645 P.2d 1371 (1982) 25
Rivero v. Rivero 125 Nev. 410, 428, 216 P.3d 213, 226 (2009)
Ryan v. Ryan 261 N.J. Super. 689, 619 A.2d 692 (1992)
Saustez v. Plastic Dress-Up Co. 647 P.2d 122 (Cal. 1982)

Schober v. Schober 692 P.2d 267 (Alaska 1984)
Sertic v. Sertic, 111 Nev. 1194, 901 P.2d 148 (1995) 3, 4, 7, 12, 22, 29, 30, 31, 34, 43, 46, 48
Smith v. Smith 733 S.W.2d 915 (Tex. Ct. App. 1987)
State, Div. of Insurance State Farm, 116 Nev. 290, 293, 995 P.2d 482 (2000)
Tomlinson v. Tomlinson 102 Nev. 652, 729 P.2d 1363 (1986)
Wallace v. Wallace, 112 Nev. 1015, 1019, 922, P.2d 451, 543 (1996)
<i>Wolff v. Wolff</i> 112 Nev. 1355, 929 P.2d 916 (1996)
STATUTES
Chapter 286
NRS 125.150(1)(b)
RULES
NRAP 3A(b)(1)
NRAP 17(a)(14)
NRAP 28(a)(10)(A)
NRAP 28.1(c)(2)
NRAP 28(e)(1)
NRAP 32(a)(5)

NRAP 32(a)(6)
NRAP 32(a)(7)49
NRAP 32 (a)(7)(c)
TREATISES
Nevada Family Law Practice Manual §2F.34.

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final judgment pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1). The district court entered final judgment on August 21, 2017. Richard timely filed a Notice of Appeal on September 6, 2017. Eleni timely filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal on September 15, 2017.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively assigned to the Intermediate Court of Appeals per NRAP 17(b)(5), as the issue concerns community property rights relating to divorce. Because this case, however, raises issues of statewide public importance, the Supreme Court may wish to hear it. NRAP 17(a)(14).

The issues involved contain an important interpretation of whether a spouse may be deprived of his or her share of community property in contravention of the statute by employee spouse continuing to work beyond their first eligibility for first retirement. Many employee and non-employee spouses may be affected by this decision.

¹ 8-JA-001560-1562

² 8-JA-001559

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL AND CROSS-APPEAL

- 1. Whether the district court erred in requiring Appellant to begin making payments on Respondent's community property share of his developed the account to full maturity, thereby imposing a *de facto* retirement penalty.
- 2. Whether the district court erred in requiring Appellant to begin making payments on Respondent's community property share of his divided retirement assets without allowing for an offset of his community property share of Respondent's divided retirement assets;
- 3. Whether the district court erred in ordering a division of Appellant's vacation/sick time.
- 4. Whether the district court erred in refusing to order Appellant/Cross-Respondent to commence full payment of Cross-Appellant's community property interest in the PERS retirement account to Respondent/Cross-Appellant in Appellant/Cross-Respondent's name upon his first eligibility for retirement.

IV. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

This is an appeal and cross-appeal from a Post-Decree of Divorce evidentiary hearing filed August 21, 2017; Hon. Cheryl B. Moss presiding. The parties were

divorced from each other on March 13, 2013. In the Decree, the parties were awarded their respective time-rule share of the other's defined contributions plans with the state of Nevada Public Employees Retirement System. The parties also later executed and filed a Qualified Domestic Relations Order that required Appellant/Cross-Respondent to commence paying Respondent/Cross-Appellant's share of the community property to her upon Appellant/Cross-Respondent's first eligibility for retirement.

Appellant/Cross-Respondent had accrued valuable vacation/sick time with the City of Las Vegas at the time of the Decree was entered that was never discussed and was never divided. The district court ordered that the vacation/sick time accrued balances be determined at the time the Decree was entered and be divided equally.

Appellant/Cross-Respondent was marshal with the City of Las Vegas and was eligible for retirement at the time the Decree of Divorce was entered. Under *Sertic* v. *Sertic*, Appellant/Cross-Respondent was required to commence paying Respondent/Cross-Appellant her community property share of the defined benefit plan. In March 2015, Respondent/Cross-Appellant made a request to

³ 111 Nev. 1194, 901 P.2d 148 (1995).

Appellant/Cross-Respondent to commence paying her community property of the retirement benefits are required by *Henson v. Henson*.⁴

The district court refused to make Appellant/Cross-Respondent pay to Respondent/Cross-Appellant her full share of the community property that was due to her under *Sertic* and *Henson*, *supra*, concluding that Appellant/Cross-Respondent could not afford to pay and thereby divested Respondent/Cross-Appellant of her share of her community property and effectuated an unequal division of community property in contravention of NRS 125.150(1)(b) and the agreement contained within the Qualified Domestic Relations Order.

V. **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Under NRAP 28.1(c)(2), Respondent/Cross-Appellant, Eleni Kilgore (hereinafter "Eleni"), may submit a statement of facts if she is dissatisfied with and Appellant/Cross-Respondent, Richard Kilgore's (hereinafter "Richard") statement of facts. Richard's statement of facts is incomplete.

Eleni and Richard were married to each other on December 15, 1992.⁵ The stipulated Decree of Divorce was entered on March 13, 2013.⁶ At the time of the

⁴ 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 79 (Oct. 2, 2014)

⁵ 1 JA-000001

⁶ 1 JA-000002

entry of the Decree, there were three minor children who are now emancipated and are not subject of this appeal.⁷

The Decree of Divorce provided for division of the respective state of Nevada pensions via Qualified Domestic Relations Order (hereinafter "QDRO") that the parties had through the Nevada Public Employees Retirement Systems (hereinafter "PERS").8

The Decree of Divorce contained no mention of Richard's vacation or sick pay that he had accrued through his employment with the City of Las Vegas Marshal's office.⁹ Richard conceded that the Decree of Divorce contained no mention of the survivor benefit that both parties had through PERS.¹⁰

No Notice of Appeal was ever filed.

At the time the Decree for Divorce was filed, Richard was employed as a marshal for the City of Las Vegas. Richard had been enrolled in PERS by virtue of being a marshal with the City of Las Vegas since May 8, 1989.¹¹

⁷ 1 JA-000002

⁸ 1 JA-000003-1 JA000004

⁹ 1 JA-000001-1 JA-000010

¹⁰ 5 JA-000894 *Transcript*, 1 JA-000001-1 JA000010

¹¹ 5 JA-000855 Transcript

As a marshal with the City of Las Vegas, Richard was part of the police-fire section of PERS.¹² Members who are part of police-fire are eligible to retire with an unreduced benefit after 20 years of service beginning at age 50 in PERS.¹³ Richard achieved the 20 year mark in PERS in June 2009.¹⁴

Richard reached age 50 on April 20, 2011.¹⁵ Richard, pursuant to Chapter 286 of the Nevada Revised Statutes would have been eligible for an unreduced retirement benefit through police-fire on April 20, 2011 and would not suffer any early retirement penalty.¹⁶

Eleni was employed with the Clark County School District as a school teacher.

Eleni had been enrolled in PERS since February 16, 1993.¹⁷ As school teacher, Eleni was a regular member of PERS.¹⁸ There are different rules for police-fire and regular

¹² 5 JA-000855 *Transcript*

¹³ 5 JA-000855-56 Transcript

¹⁴ 5 JA-000856 *Transcript*

¹⁵ 5 JA-000857 *Transcript*

¹⁶ 5 JA-000857 Transcript

¹⁷ 5 JA-000864 *Transcript*

¹⁸ 5 JA-000864 Transcript

members.¹⁹ Eleni would not be eligible to retire with an unreduced benefit until approximately 2023.²⁰

On October 14, 2014, Richard filed a Motion to modify his child support obligation as he had been terminated from his position as a marshal with the City of Las Vegas.²¹ Richard was terminated for misconduct.²²

On December 9, 2014, the hearing on Richard's Motion to modify child support obligation came on for hearing. Because the senior judge, Hon. Kathy Hardcastle, did not have any financial disclosure forms in front of her, she declined to enter any financial orders.²³

Richard filed a new motion on an Order Shortening Time, this time to try and enforce the December 9, 2014, orders, change custody and hold Eleni in contempt.²⁴

At the hearing, it was pointed out for the first time that Eleni should have been receiving her community property share of the pension under *Sertic* v. *Sertic*.²⁵ The

¹⁹ 5 JA-000864 *Transcript*

²⁰ 5 JA-000867 *Transcript*

²¹ 1 JA-000012-1 JA-000027

²² 1 JA-000023-1 JA000026

²³ 1 JA-000236

²⁴ 2 JA-00241

²⁵ 111 Nev. 1194, 901 P.2d 148 (1995); 2 JA-000276 Transcript

district court agreed, stating, ". . . when you first become eligible and she has a community interest in the divorce she should be having a distribution. . . he can't hold out until he's like 70 years old, and not collect then she's not getting her portion."26

It was also pointed out that there was omitted vacation and sick pay that Richard received when he was terminated from the City of Las Vegas.²⁷ Counsel were ordered to research retirements and submit Briefs.²⁸ Richard was further required to fill out and submit a work search journal now that he was unemployed, and that Richard would be under an ongoing obligation to do that and that he would be documenting in the work search journal "today" forward.²⁹

On March 10, 2015, Eleni submitted her Brief regarding retirement benefits and omitted assets to the district court and requested that Richard commence paying benefits immediately.³⁰ At the hearing on March 11, 2015, Richard asked for more

²⁶ 2 JA-000277 Transcript

²⁷ 2 JA-000277 Transcript

²⁸ 2 JA-000443, 2 JA-000446

²⁹ 2 JA-000271 Transcript, 2 JA-000278 Transcript, 2 JA-000281 Transcript, 2 JA-000443.

³⁰ 2 JA-000317 to 2 JA000322.

time to file his Brief regarding retirement benefits and omitted assets. A new date was set, June 10, 2015, to give Richard the additional time he requested and for Richard to turn in his work search journal.³¹

At the June 10, 2015, hearing, it was pointed out that Richard had not provided a work search journal.³² Because Richard was still unemployed, the Court declined to require that he pay Eleni her share of her community property interest in the pension even though he had not retired.³³ The Court deferred sanctions even though Richard had still failed to provide a work search journal for the prior five months.³⁴ Instead, the matter was sent out for a settlement conference.³⁵

On June 24, 2015, the Qualified Domestic Relations Order (hereinafter (QDRO") formally dividing the pension in Richard's name and giving Eleni her community property share was finally filed.³⁶ Richard was defined as the Participant and Eleni was defined as the Alternate Payee.³⁷

³¹ 2 JA-000383 *Transcript*

³² 3 JA-000491 *Transcript*

³³ 3 JA-000481 *Transcript*

³⁴ 3 JA-000491 *Transcript*, 3 JA-000528

³⁵ 3 JA-000529

³⁶ 3 JA-000518 to 3 JA-000522

³⁷ 3 JA-000519

In the QDRO it was stated, "[t]he retirement system is specifically directed to pay the benefits as determined herein directly to the Alternate Payee at the first possible date." In the QDRO, it was further stated, that "[t]he Participant shall make payments directly to the Alternate Payee, of the sum required by this Order, no later than the fifth day of each month until payments from the retirement system to the Alternate Payee commence under this Order." The QDRO was executed by both Richard and Eleni with Richard approving as to form and content. 40

On August 28, 2015, the settlement conference was held. Only minor issues were resolved.⁴¹

On January 4, 2016, Richard was reinstated as a marshal with the City of Las Vegas.

On February 9, 2016, a status check hearing was held. Eleni filed a Supplement and a Schedule of Arrears showing that if one went back to the date the Decree of Divorce was filed to February 9, 2016, Richard would owe approximately

³⁹ 3 JA-000520

³⁸ 3 JA-000520

⁴⁰ 3 JA-000523

⁴¹ 3 JA-000534 to 3 JA-000537

\$85,753.80, before interest, for retirement benefits that should have been paid to Eleni.⁴²

On February 9, 2016, Richard was ordered by the district court to commence paying Eleni \$1,200 per month for her partial share of her interest in the PERS defined benefit plan in Richard's name.⁴³ Richard never made a single payment.

The Order from the February 9, 2016, indicated that an evidentiary hearing was set for July 25, 2016, at 1:30 p.m. on stack #1 regarding the outstanding financial issues of:

- a. The Survivor Beneficiary designation for the Nevada Public Employees retirement account for both pre and post retirement designations.
- b. The omitted vacation and sick pay that Plaintiff received when he was terminated from the City of Las Vegas but was never divided.
- c. The property equalization payments for the defined benefit plan that were to be made to Defendant by Plaintiff upon Plaintiff's first eligibility for retirement but that were never made.

⁴² 3 JA-000556, 1 ROA 000019

⁴³ 3 JA-000567

d. The Hartford Deferred Compensation Account in Plaintiff's name that was never divided.⁴⁴

On July 25, 2016, the first day of trial, Richard submitted a new Financial Disclosure Form claiming that he was now making \$88,344.36 or \$7,362.03 per month.⁴⁵ The expenses Richard listed in his Financial Disclosure Form totaled \$5,460.00.⁴⁶ The expenses included a \$1,200 per month payment for the PERS payment to Eleni that Richard was ordered to pay on February 9, 2016, but never did.⁴⁷

Also on the first day of the evidentiary hearing Marshal Willick, Esq. was stipulated as to being an expert witness as to PERS law, survivor beneficiary law, and child support law.⁴⁸

As to when payments should commence, Mr. Willick testified that the from 1989 going forward, the Nevada Supreme Court issued a series of decisions, "Gemma, Fondi, Sertic, and Wolff which collectively stand for the proposition that

⁴⁴ 3 JA-000567

⁴⁵ 3 JA-000629

⁴⁶ 3 JA-000631

⁴⁷ 3 JA-000631

⁴⁸ 4 JA-00645 *Transcript*

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